### SZENT ISTVÁN UNIVERSITY

### **Doctoral School of Management and Business Administration**



# ANALYSIS OF THE COMPETITIVENESS OF DRY PASTA MAKING MICRO AND SMALL ENTERPRISES

THESES OF THE DOCTORAL (PhD) DISSERTATION

ILONA FEHÉR

GÖDÖLLŐ

2020

Name of the do	ctoral school:	
	<b>Doctoral School of Management and I</b>	Business Administration
Branch of scien	ce:	
	Management and Business Administra	ation
Head:		
	Dr. habil. Zoltán Lakner DSc	
	professor, doctor of the Hungarian Ac	cademy of Sciences
	SZIU Faculty of Economics and Socia	•
	Institute of Business Studies	
Supervisor:		
Supervisor.	Dr. habil. József Lehota DSc	
	professor, doctor of the Hungarian Ac	endamy of Sciences
		-
	SZIU Faculty of Economics and Socia	1 Sciences
	Institute of Business Studies	
	••••••	•••••
signature of the	head of the school	signature of the supervisor

## Table of contents

1. BACKGROUND TO RESEARCH AND OBJECTIVES SET	4
1. 1. The background of the research and its content	4
1. 2. The objectives set	4
2. MATERIAL AND METHOD	6
3. RESULTS	7
3.1. Evaluation of the case studies in Hungary and abroad	7
3. 1. 1. Case study analysis of the diamond model factors regarding	7
3. 1. 2. Comparison of case studies	9
3. 2. Analysis of consumer behaviour, the statistical processing of the questionnaire	12
3. 2. 1. Descriptive statistical analysis	12
3. 2. 2. Evaluation of the correlation between several variables	14
3. 3. Summary of hypothesis testing (H1-H12)	15
3. 4. New scientific results	16
4. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	18
4. 1. Conclusions	18
4. 2. Recommendations for utilising the research	18
List of references	19

#### 1. BACKGROUND TO RESEARCH AND OBJECTIVES SET

#### 1. 1. The background of the research and its content

The dissertation is centred around the topic of competitiveness at micro and small enterprises in the pasta industry, with special regard to the impact of consumer behaviour. The **success and failure factors** of small business competitiveness were also put in the limelight.

An unfavourable pasta market trend termed as 'brand cannibalism', refers to an increase in the market share of own label products of the retail chains. (JELENTÉS, 2016) As a result, the structure of the industry has been modified, global retail networking has intensified, and the importance of food chain has been stressed. (LAKNER, 2017)

Pasta has always played an essential role as staple food in the consumption of households around the world. The dynamic development of the pasta industry is evidenced by the fact that **the global consumption of pasta has almost tripled since 1974.** (DONEY, 2018)

The vast majority (94%) of the dry pasta sector in Hungary - in terms of company size - employs more than half of the employees in the sector, including micro and small enterprises. (SZÉKELYHIDI, 2016) The popularity of the local producer market is growing.(VÖRÖS, 2013)

Regarding the trends in the global pasta market, **growth is expected to be 5.85% between 2019 and 2023**. The market is driven by the growth of the working population, the need for convenience foods and the changing consumer lifestyle. (PASTA MARKET GROWTH REPORT, 2019). As for the segmentation of pasta products, **market growth is expected in functional food,** organic pasta may dominate the market due to rising demand, and the market of chemical-free foods for health-conscious consumers is also increasing. (MAHARASHTRA, 2017)

As for the structure of the dissertation, the basic concepts were defined and then the competitiveness of the international and domestic pasta industry was analysed based on Porter's diamond model. After the material and method part, the results of the research were outlined in two main parts. One of them is the evaluation of the case studies prepared in the Hungarian and foreign regions, and the other is the statistical processing of the questionnaire survey. I evaluated the research hypotheses test, then I presented the new and novel results of the research. Recommendations were made for small business development, which can hopefully be utilized at an international level.

#### 1. 2. The objectives set

- O1. The main objective of the doctoral dissertation is the competitiveness analysis of the national small enterprises in the pasta industry.
- O2. One of the sub-goals is the detailed examination of the companies in the pasta sector on the supply side by means of secondary and primary research.

The secondary research is directed at the competitiveness situation of small businesses as well as that of the dry pasta industry while in the primary research the competitiveness factors of entrepreneurs were compared with the help of national and international best practices.

C3. The second sub-goal was the analysis of the behaviour of dry pasta consumers on the demand side of the pasta market by means of secondary and primary research with the help of questionnaires.

In the secondary research the trends that influence consumer behaviour were explored while the questionnaire in the primary research helped analyse consumer behaviour.

#### In line with the research objectives the following hypotheses were drafted.

Hypotheses H1-H6 on the supply side of the pasta market

H1 From the aspect of the factor supply of the pasta enterprises, the negative effects of natural conditions can be compensated for while improving competitiveness.

H2 The bargaining position of buyers in the pasta business sector is expected to increase.

H3 When examining entrepreneurial strategies, general success and failure factors are expected to be screened.

H4 The bargaining position of businesses towards suppliers is not expected to change or deteriorate, i.e. the threat of this factor stagnates.

H5 By the end of the decade (2010s), economic governance is expected to promote the whitening of the grey-black economy and the commitment to environmentally conscious behaviour will increase.

H6 Businesses are expected to find a variety of solutions to offset the negative impact of accidental events on competitiveness of which success and failure factors can be identified.

Hypotheses H7-H12 on the demand side of the pasta market

H7 The most frequent response to purchase frequency is expected to be "once a week" and "several times a week".

H8 The willingness to pay a premium for handmade dry pasta is low, one and a half times higher than for mass products.

H9 Pastas from plain flour and many eggs are most often expected to be very important, and few people are expected to consider "gluten-free" or "organic" dry pasta.

H10 Of the organoleptic characteristics, the shape of the dry pasta will be the most important and the smell will be the least important to dry pasta buyers.

H11 "Wholemeal flour" is expected to be preferred over "spelled flour", "gluten free" or "rice flour".

H12 It is expected that hand-made pasta will have a higher nutritional value meaning that they will also have healthier and more favourable organoleptic properties than mass-produced retail products.

#### 2. MATERIAL AND METHOD

Supporting points have been found in several studies while analysing case studies on the supply side. One such case in Italy was the case of a production cooperative (HASSANEIN, N - GILCHRIST, K. 2013) and in Hungary a research entitled in competition with the world (CHIKÁN, CZAKÓ, 2009) about the culture of inheriting family businesses. (NOSZKAY. 2017.) Building a company's reputation is effective when it comes to building long-term mutual benefits with customers. (DALGIC, 2006)

I had to cope with the fact that micro and small businesses were on the border of the white and grey economy, recommended to each other, therefore the sample could not be considered representative. On the demand side, I received guidance from several similar studies on consumer behaviour (LEHOTA, CSÍKNÉ, RÁCZ, 2017) on risk-reducing consumer behaviour (TARI, LEHOTA, KOMÁROMI, 2016), consumer value systems in methods of researching consumer behaviour. (LEHOTA ZS, 2018. p. 90). and research on expected consumer trends (SHOUKAS, 2013) as well as emotionally based product differentiation (SHEPHERD, -RAATS, 2006). The consumer questionnaire (n = 118) was analysed with SPSS 16. It can be stated from the sample that it is not representative, but it can still be used in the research because it is suitable of exploring new results.

The research was done in several parts. I collected questionnaires and interviews at domestic gastronomy events. In Hungary, I conducted a case study with five companies. I visited two Fresca pasta shops in northern Italy and then did a case study at the dry pasta factory of Alce Nero cooperative. I was welcome in a bakery and mini mill in Moldavia, Romania, and I made interviews in two bakeries of Transylvania. I also examined the changes in the competitiveness of the pasta industry by exploring the events of the period 1960-2019. Finally, an online consumer questionnaire was completed in 2019. (n = 118) This is how the research material was compiled.

#### 3. RESULTS

The purpose of my primary research is to make recommendations to micro-entrepreneurs, small scale producers, and rural tourism decision makers to enhance viable sustainable competitiveness.

#### 3.1. Evaluation of the case studies in Hungary and abroad

Such micro enterprises of pasta production in Hungary were visited where the number of employees is below 10 like Pásztortűz Kft, Józsa Kft, Fehérné Tésztája, Kalász Tészta. An interview was also made at a big company, namely, Gyermely Zrt. In addition to the Hungarian companies, enterprises in two different economic environments were also visited abroad.

One of the countries visited was a typical Eastern European country, Romania, with a developing economy. A micro company was introduced here in Moldova and one in Transylvania. During the research in the micro-region of Oroszhegy, the village of Tibód proved to be good practice, so I recorded the experiences of the development.

The other country is a typical Western European one, Italy, where two "fresh pasta shops" in the province of Emilia Romagna were visited and interviews were made at the pasta factory of Alce Nero Cooperative. In the field I learned about the great local development of the pasta factory in the Isola del Piano micro-region, so I used it as a good practice in my research.

The semi-structured interviews were based on the factors of the diamond model and the responses were analysed in four logical steps. According to this, I recorded the problem and then the response and the impact of the measures on the company. Finally, in the note, I described the factors of competitiveness.

Through the research I intend to use their experience for the domestic enterprises, but not only for the micro entrepreneurs, the primary producers and the small scale producers, but also for the decision makers who develop the micro-region, for the economic utilization of the micro-region.

#### 3. 1. 1. Case study analysis of the diamond model factors regarding

#### Factor and asset supply

From the case study stories, elements that show the physical, human and R&D resources of businesses were searched.

#### Examining Hypothesis H1 in terms of factor and asset supply

H1 From the aspect of the factor supply of the pasta enterprises, the negative effects of natural conditions can be compensated for while improving competitiveness.

In terms of equipment supply, the success factors behind the product are the creation of a philosophical background and cultural value added, machine development in-house, adaptive trend tracking, and the distribution of domestic knowledge transfer abroad. The failure factors are the narrow product range and lack of the expected return on investment.

Based on the above, it can be stated that Hypothesis H1 can be justified by the details of the above interviews, i.e. the disadvantaged natural conditions of the enterprise in terms of asset

and factor supply can be reversed in order to increase competitiveness. The hypothesis is confirmed.

#### Threatening buyers' bargaining power

From the stories of the case studies, elements that reveal the technology of making pasta, the demand, and the sensitivity of entrepreneurs to consumption trends were looked for.

#### Examining Hypothesis H2 in terms of threat to demand and bargaining power of buyers

In terms of customer bargaining position, success factors include loose collaboration with competitors and multi-directional sales. Failure factors include a strengthening of retail bargaining position and a weakening manufacturer brand.

H2 The bargaining position of buyers in the pasta business sector is expected to increase.

Based on the above, it can be stated that the exposure of businesses to customers has increased. Several success and failure factors were identified ranging from avoiding strategy to resignation to vulnerability. The hypothesis is confirmed.

#### **Strategies of enterprises**

From the case studies parts which shed light on the relationship of the enterprises with competitors, the strategy of the enterprise and how quick they reacted to consumer needs were looked for.

#### Examining Hypothesis H3 in terms of selecting strategy by the enterprises.

Regarding business strategies, success factors include a wider range of services, organising cyclical production, including family members, umbrella branding, public engagement in complex micro regional strategy. The failure factors consist of disregarding consumer value system and misjudging, miscalculating bank loans.

H3 When examining entrepreneurial strategies, general success and failure factors are expected to be screened.

Based on the above, it can be stated that of the entrepreneurial strategies, overall success and failure factors at international level can be excluded, despite various environmental influences. The hypothesis was confirmed.

#### Threatening the bargaining power of suppliers

From the case studies parts which shed light on what suppliers the enterprises had relationship with were looked for.

#### Examining Hypothesis H4 in terms of threatening the bargaining power of suppliers

Success factors in suppliers' bargaining power include trust between members of the food chain, joining manufacturer networking, horizontal and vertical collaboration, joint innovation with research institutes, while failure factors are mistrust, and lack of fair competition behaviour.

H4 The bargaining position of businesses towards suppliers is not expected to change or deteriorate, i.e. the threat of this factor stagnates.

Based on the above it can be stated that hypothesis H4 is confirmed. The threat of supplier bargaining power stagnates.

#### Economic-political environment and its impact on competitiveness

From the case studies elements that reveal the type of relationship between economic and political issues were looked for.

#### Examining Hypothesis H5 in terms of the economic-political environmental impact

Success factors regarding the bargaining power of suppliers are as follows: level-playing ground, ethical behaviour in competition, EU regulations and sanctions. The failure factors include forging and debatable product quality.

H5 By the end of the decade, economic governance is expected to promote the whitening of the grey-black economy.

Hypothesis H5 seems to be confirmed because non-industry specific economic governance will help to whiten the grey-black economy in 2019 and strengthen commitment to responsible entrepreneurial behaviour. The hypothesis is confirmed.

#### The impact of accidental events on entrepreneurial competitiveness

From the case studies parts which shed light on what role accidental events played in the life of the enterprise may they be either nature or technology related or incidents in the management.

#### Examining Hypothesis H6 in terms of accidental events

Regarding accidental events the main **success factors** include preparedness for generation change and networking to set off the disadvantages of accidental events. The **failure factors** perceive accidental events as unavoidable economic tsunami and they just drift away without being prepared.

H6 Businesses are expected to find a variety of solutions to offset the negative impact of accidental events on competitiveness of which success and failure factors can be identified.

It can be stated that Hypothesis H6 has been justified. Several solutions can be found to offset the competitiveness-reducing effect of accidental events, among which success and failure factors can be identified. The hypothesis was confirmed.

#### 3. 1. 2. Comparison of case studies

Similar analyses have already been made in the literature in the wine, milk and meat sectors (KOMÁROMI - LEHOTA, 2004). A benchmarking tool (comparative matrix) was prepared to analyse the competitiveness of the companies in the case studies. (EVANS, 1997) In preparing the table, I have taken into account that "the benchmark is the concentration on a benchmark that achieves best practice in the process." (CAMP, 1995, p. 37)

The following categories were established to characterise the single factors in the matrix.

Asset supply (low, medium, high); geographical limits of market; (local, national, abroad), market bargaining power (no, mutual, subordinate, highly subordinated), degree of product differentiation (low, medium, high).

Need for innovation (no, low, medium, high); branding, (own label brand orientation, the brand is oriented on custom production); sign of origin (yes, no),

form on market orientation (technological, customer, competitor, planning orientation).

Pasta industry competition structure in the environment of the enterprise (*atomistic*, *oligopolistic or bipolar*), entrance and exit barriers (*no*, *low*, *medium*, *high*); dependence on supplier, (*no*, *weak*, *mutual*, *subordinate*, *highly subordinated*).

The rows of the table present the competitiveness factors while the columns stand for the numbers that represent the entrepreneurs.

TABLE 1. Comparison of the results of case studies

		Hungarian enterprises			Italian		Transylvanian		Moldavian				
	Factors of com	petitiveness	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1	Assets	Natural resources	low	low	low	mediu m	high	medium	high	medium	medium	low	medium
		Physical resources	low	low	low	mediu m	high	medium	high	low	medium	low	low
		Machines	medium	medium	medium	high	high	high	high	medium	medium	low	medium
		Investment	low	medium	medium	high	high	high	high	medium	high	low	medium
		Use of current assets	low	low	low	mediu m	high	low	high	low	high	low	medium
2	Supply chain, demand	Geographical limits of market	local	local	residence	nationa 1	abroad	residenc e	abroad	residence	local	residence	residence
		Market bargaining power	highly subordinate d	subordinate d.	subordinate d.	mutual	mutual	mutual	mutual	subordinate d	mutual	subordinate d	mutual
		Product differentiatio n	low	low	medium	high	high	medium	high	medium	high	medium	low
2	GI 4 • 4•	T	T 1:	medium	1.:_1.	1.1.1.	1.: -1.	1:	1.:-1.	T 1:	1.1.1.	T 1:	1
3	Characteristic s of entrepreneuri al strategy	Innovation Branding	medium own label	own label	high own label	high own label	own label	medium own label	high own label and trade	medium	high own label, and trade	medium own label	low own label
		Sign of origin	yes	no	yes	yes	no	no	yes	no	yes	no	no
		Marker orientation	technol.	compet.	planning	compet .	customer	compet.	custome r	technol.	custome r	technol.	competito r.
		Competition structure	atomist.	atomist.	atomist.	atomist .	oligopoly	atomist.	oligopol y	atomist.	atomist	atomist.	atomist.
	T		1	1	T	1	1	1	1	1		1	1 -
4	Entrance barriers	5	high	high	high	high	high	high	high	medium	medium	medium	low
5	Exit barriers Supply chain	dependence on supplier	high mutual	high mutual	high mutual	high mutual	high no	high mutual	high no	medium weak	medium mutual	medium weak	low mutual

Source: author's own editing based on own research

## 3. 2. Analysis of consumer behaviour, the statistical processing of the questionnaire

This chapter analyses the buying habits of pasta consumers and the product characteristics.

The questionnaire was compiled to reveal the pasta buying habits as well as identifiable product characteristics and pasta consumption segments.

The variables inform us about frequency of buying habits (H7). The willingness to pay the premium price is relative to the retail prices (H8). First, the variables describing the direct properties of the pasta products were examined (H9). Then, the group of flour ingredients was considered. (H11) I asked about the organoleptic characteristics of the product (H10), the taste, smell, shape and colour of the pasta were also analysed. Then I analysed the external properties from the point of view of packaging, brand, manufacturer and highlighted the abstract product characteristics. The description of the term "handmade pasta" (H12), the "healthy pasta" and the spontaneous mentioning of the brand followed.

#### 3. 2. 1. Descriptive statistical analysis

In my first analysis, I inquired about buying habits, volume of purchase, frequency, and location of purchase.

Customer responses revealed that dry pasta was staple food as almost everyone consumes it. (95%) In contrast, only one-quarter of the respondents (22%) require stuffed pasta. It is clear from the volume of the purchase that 43% of the respondents consume 1 kg dry pasta per month and 65% do not consume any stuffed pasta at all.

#### Frequency of purchase is highlighted: examining H7

Regarding the frequency of purchase, it can be stated that typically 50% buys it on a monthly basis; 52% of the respondents do not buy stuffed pasta at all.

H7 The most frequent response to purchase frequency is expected to be "once a week" and "several times a week".

The hypothesis can be partially justified because in the case of dry pasta the frequency of purchase is 45% per week and 50% per month. This part of the hypothesis is confirmed. In the case of stuffed pasta, 51.7% do not require it at all. This part of the hypothesis has not been justified.

#### Willingness to pay premium price is highlighted: examining H8

The premium nature of pasta categories was measured by the willingness to pay the premium price. The willingness to pay a premium for handmade pasta is almost 40%, the same as for mass produced pasta products. (51%)

H8 The willingness to pay a premium for handmade dry pasta is low, one and a half times higher than for mass products.

The willingness of the respondents to pay a premium price is low, they would not pay one and a half times more, but the value of a handmade product for a consumer is just as much as a mass-produced pasta product. So, the hypothesis was not confirmed.

## <u>Traditional and free variables of the direct product characteristics are highlighted: examining</u> H9

34% would like to buy traditional 8 egg pastas in the order of preference for dry pasta product categories. The other categories of pasta are rejected to various degrees. They do not require pasta from quail eggs (81%), gluten free (67%), vegetable (56%), organic pasta (46%), low carbohydrate (42%), and durum pasta products (33%).

H9 Pastas from plain flour and many eggs are most often expected to be very important, and few people are expected to consider "gluten-free" or "organic" dry pasta.

Of the dry pasta categories, quail egg pasta (81%) is not required, gluten-free pasta was chosen by 67% and 46% opted for organic pasta. So, the hypothesis is confirmed.

#### Analysing organoleptic product characteristics are highlighted: examining H10

The characteristics of the products by eyesight, touching, smelling and tasting were investigated. The results showed that taste (67%) and shape (42%) are very important. The smell is a bit important, (28%), but the coloured nature is not at all important. (56%)

H10 Of the organoleptic characteristics, the shape of the dry pasta will be the most important and the smell will be the least important to dry pasta buyers.

According to the respondents, the shape of the pasta is very important, but the taste is even more important. The least important is the smell of the product. The hypothesis is confirmed.

#### Analysing the flour base of dry pasta is highlighted: examining H11

Pasta made from plain wheat flour is a bit important, and whole wheat flour (31%), spelled flour (30%) is not important. Not at all important factors are glass pasta flour (47%), glutenfree flour (46%) and rice flour (41%), as well as whole grain spelled flour. (29%).

H11 "Wholemeal flour" is expected to be preferred over "spelled flour", "gluten free" or "rice flour".

Whole wheat flour is slightly important (31%), spelled flour is indifferent, gluten-free flour is not at all important, rice flour and glass pasta are rejected. The hypothesis is confirmed.

Analysing handmade pasta products of the abstract characteristics is highlighted: examining <u>H12</u>

Most people think that 'handmade pasta' is a product made by hand (28%), has a high nutrient content (18%) and its organoleptic properties are important. (17%).

H12 It is expected that hand-made pasta will have a higher nutritional value meaning that they will also have healthier and more favourable organoleptic properties than mass-produced retail products.

The definition of "handmade", according to consumer perception, is a product made exclusively by hand, a high nutritional value is attributed to it with a better organoleptic quality than mass products. The hypothesis was confirmed.

#### 3. 2. 2. Evaluation of the correlation between several variables

During the analysis of product properties, I wanted to know to what extent the preference of different types of pasta was typical of the questionnaire respondents. I revealed this by factor analysis, while I measured the relationship between the variables with seven variables (Table 1).

Table 1 The own label values of factor analysis

Degree of importance of variables	Compone	Components of factor weigh		
	1	2	3	
Low carbohydrate	0.669	-0.251	0.071	
Gluten free	0.635	-0.415	0.347	
Organic pasta	0.506	0.046	0.494	
Traditional pasta of 8 eggs	-0.495	0.333	0.594	
Colourful, enriched with vegetables	0.504	0.695	-0.033	
Made of quail egg	-0.36	0.455	0.575	
Made of durum flour	0.491	0.489	-0.515	

Source: Own label editing based on own label research results (n7118)

Based on the calculations, there are three factors that show the correlation with the original variables.

- Chemical-free pasta is the most popular. Low carbohydrate (0.67), gluten-free (0.63) and organic dry pasta (0.50) were grouped.
- The group of "**fortified**" pasta consists of coloured pasta (0.69) enriched with vegetables and pasta made from durum flour (0.48).
- 'Traditional 'pasta (0.45) consists of eight-egg dry pasta groups. According to the role of variables in the context model, 'traditional' has the highest value in Factor 3 (61.5%), 'Enriched' in Factor 2 (43.6%), and finally, 'Free' in Factor 1 has a value of 23, 1%, respectively.

#### Cluster analysis in the light of demographic variables

To characterize consumer segments, demographical data were compared with the three clusters, and then looked for the relationship between clusters and product categories; between clusters and product properties, and finally clusters and additives.

- "Leading intellectual, middle-aged women," the first consumer segment (n = 61) includes women in the capital aged 31-50 who have graduated from university.
- "Rural Working Men" is the second cluster (n = 36) consisting of small-town men aged 31-50 with a certificate from secondary school.

• "Intellectual Women from the capital" (n = 21) are college graduates, 41-50 years old living in the capital.

#### Cluster analysis in the light of product characteristics

Based on the preference order of product characteristics, I wanted to know what type of consumer segments can be identified by organoleptic (shape, taste, smell, colour) and external (packaging, brand, manufacturer) rankings. Based on the properties of the pasta products, the test sample can be divided into the following segments:

- The **brand-trusted** (n = 61) preference group (fourth cluster) chooses pasta based on the external product attributes and is least interested in the vegetable-enriched coloured pasta of the internal product attributes.
- For the manufacturer-trust (n = 29) preference group (first cluster), the external product characteristics are decisive when making a choice, but packaging is less appreciated.
- For the fragrance-centred preference group (n = 14) (second cluster), the intrinsic property of the product is important, but the product brand of the external attributes is less appreciated.
- The fortified product consumer preference group (n = 14) (third cluster) prefers coloured pasta enriched with vegetables, but the packaging is not important for them. It is noteworthy that this cluster has a very low rating for all variables compared to other cluster variables. This may be due to the fact that they also consider different aspects when selecting pasta products.

#### 3. 3. Summary of hypothesis testing (H1-H12)

Summarising the research was started with reviewing the hypotheses test followed by the new and novel scientific achievements (Table 2).

Table 2 Testing the research hypotheses

Hypothesis	Test
H1 From the aspect of the factor supply of the pasta enterprises, the negative effects of natural conditions can be compensated for while improving competitiveness.	Confirmed
H2 The bargaining position of buyers in the pasta business sector is expected to increase.	Confirmed
H3 When examining entrepreneurial strategies, general success and failure factors are expected to be screened.	Confirmed
H4 The bargaining position of businesses towards suppliers is not expected to change or deteriorate, i.e. the threat of this factor stagnates.	Confirmed
H5 By the end of the decade (2010s), economic governance is expected to promote the whitening of the	Confirmed

grey-black economy and the commitment to environmentally conscious behaviour will increase.	
H6 Businesses are expected to find a variety of solutions to offset the negative impact of accidental events on competitiveness of which success and failure factors can be identified.	Confirmed
H7 The most frequent response to purchase frequency is expected to be "once a week" and "several times a week".	Partially confirmed
H8 The willingness to pay a premium for handmade dry pasta is low, one and a half times higher than for mass products.	Rejected
H9 Pastas from plain flour and many eggs are most often expected to be very important, and few people are expected to consider "gluten-free" or "organic" dry pasta.	Confirmed
H10 Of the organoleptic characteristics, the shape of the dry pasta will be the most important and the smell will be the least important to dry pasta buyers.	Confirmed
H11 "Wholemeal flour" is expected to be preferred over "spelled flour", "gluten free" or "rice flour".	Confirmed
H12 It is expected that hand-made pasta will have a higher nutritional value meaning that they will also have healthier and more favourable organoleptic properties than mass-produced retail products.	Confirmed

#### 3. 4. New scientific results

Result 1: Results of the secondary research

I have examined the competitiveness of the pasta industry, the technological and product innovation, and the micro-entrepreneurial sector. I have identified the elements of competitiveness factors. I have stated about the past period that the dry pasta sector can be divided into four competitiveness stages between 1969 and 2019. While examining the future trends, I have found that the competitiveness of micro-enterprises in the dry pasta market is affected by horizontal networking and vertical local cooperation. I have found that 3D pasta printing is expected to appear in the hospitality market.

Result 2: Results of the case studies

I have examined the competitiveness of the Hungarian and foreign entrepreneurs. I have identified the *success and failure factors* of the competitiveness of micro-entrepreneurs. I have proved that the networking activity of pasta manufacturers is intensifying. The emerging horizontal networking ranging from the research institute via the farmland to the table, the vertical networking, rural tourism, hospitality, and networking on local values have already begun.

#### Result 3: Results of consumer behaviour

I have examined the behaviour, frequency, quantity, location, and willingness to pay the premium price at purchase, and then the characteristics of the pasta products. I have concluded that one kilogram a month is bought from large shops by female shoppers. I have proven that consumers are generally not willing to pay a premium price. I have distinguished three consumer segments: the first is made up by the 31-50-year-old **female college graduates in the capital** (n = 61), the second comprises the 31-50-year-old college graduate **males in small towns** (n = 36), and the third a group is of 41-50 year old **women college graduates** living in the capital. (n = 21)

#### Result 4: Results of pasta product characteristics

I have examined the properties of pasta products and found that the selection of pasta from smooth flour and many eggs has the most significant effect. I have proved that the shape of pasta products is the most important of the organoleptic properties. I have found that 'handmade pasta' is a product made by hand with a high nutritional value. I have concluded that domestic pasta brands are more in demand than retail pasta brands, and the popularity of commercial pasta brands are on the rise.

I have also examined the correlations with the consumer demographic data by factor analysis. I have concluded that the most significant product group is the "free" (carbohydrate, gluten) and the "fortified" (with vegetable, durum flour) the third is the "traditional" (eight-egg) pasta products.

I have analysed the supply of products according to their organoleptic and external properties. I have found that four clusters were distinguished: the **brand-oriented** (n = 61), characterised mostly by external product attributes. The other is the **manufacturer-oriented** cluster (n = 29), which is mainly influenced by external product characteristics. The third is **fragrance**-centric (n = 14), the effect of the internal characteristic is strong. The fourth group is those who like **fortified** products (n = 14) and are influenced by coloured pasta.

#### 4. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### 4. 1. Conclusions

In the case of pasta consumption, an increase in pluralized trends can be noticed, i.e., following the opposite value orders. The consumer behaviour of dry pasta, according to the respondents to the questionnaire, is based on the following stratification: "Who like free products" go for gluten free and low carbohydrate dry pasta", "Those who like traditional products" prefer traditional 8-egg homemade pasta. The "Enriched Pasta Consumers" like durum pasta enriched with colourful vegetables.

#### 4. 2. Recommendations for utilising the research

The significance of the research is that it will bring economic benefits not only to domestic, small, rural and micro entrepreneurs, but also to local micro-region developers and decision-makers.

Recommendation 1: It is recommended to *extend the horizontal and vertical business relations* to pasta manufacturers, in the direction of tourism, rural tourism and other hospitality, as well as a variety of complementary activities.

Recommendation 2: To increase the competitiveness of micro and small businesses, I recommend product innovations that not only offer gluten-free and carbohydrate-poor dry pasta but also keep traditional homemade pasta products.

Recommendation 3: *Rethinking and transforming old economic knowledge* not only boosts its micro-region but also spreads to other continents as good practice. The key to this is human resources, which means a consistent economic commitment that is philosophically based and enjoys the trust of the local community.

At the end of the dissertation I emphasize that if a local micro-region becomes depopulated, the local economic process can be reversed. The prerequisite for this is human resources, a leader who feels a call to the community of own label. The knowledge of the re-populated, micro-region is transformed and utilized by micro-enterprises on other continents. In the future, further research about the impact of human resources on local economic development is recommended.

#### List of references

CHIKÁN, A. - CZAKÓ, E. (2009) Versenyben a világgal - Vállalataink versenyképessége az új évezred küszöbén. Akadémiai Kiadó, 2009.

CZAKÓ, E. (2000) Versenyképesség iparágak szintjén. Budapest, BKÁE Vállalatgazdasági Tanszék.

DALGIC, T. (2006) Handbook of Nice Marketing, Principles and Practice. Best Business Book. Psychology Press

DONEY, A. (2018) Worldwide pasta consumption on the rise. In: Food Business News 2018. 05. 25. Accesses 02 September 2019. https://www.foodbusinessnews.net/articles/11886-worldwide-pasta-consumption-on-the-rise

FEHÉR, I. (2007) A magyar kisvállalkozások lehetőségei. In.: Európai Integráció II. Pannon Gazdaságtudományi Konferenciakötet. 199-207.

HASSANEIN, N - GILCHRIST, K. (2013) Local is Delicious,: but It's Not Always Easy: A Case Study of the Western Montana Growers Cooperative. Technical Report. Affiliation: Environmental Studies Program, University of Montana. Downloaded: 05 June 2018. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/277323360\_Local\_is\_Delicious\_but\_It's\_Not\_Always\_Easy\_A\_Case\_Study\_of\_the\_Western\_Montana\_Growers\_Cooperative

JELENTÉS az agrárgazdaság 2014 évi helyzetéről. B/8386 számú. I. Kötet. Budapest, 2016. https://www.parlament.hu/irom40/08386/08386.pdf Letöltés: 2018. 03. 12.

LAKNER, Z. (2017) Az élelmiszer-ellátó hálózatok modernizációja. Budapest, MTA Doktori Értekezés.

LEHOTA, ZS. (2018) A hazai élelmiszerellátási lánc elemzése, különös tekintettel a fogyasztói kockázatokra. PhD Értekezés, SZIE, Gazdálkodás és Szervezéstudományok Doktori Iskola, Gödöllő.

LEHOTA, J. – CSÍKNÉ MÁCSAI, É. – RÁCZ, G. (2017) Az egészségtudatos élelmiszerfogyasztói magatartás értelmezése a LOHAS koncepció alapján. Táplálkozásmarketing. 2014. 1. (1-2) 39-46. old.

MAHARASHTRA, P. (2017) Pasta Industry Analysis. Foresight to 2023. Market Research Future published a Cooked Research Report (CRR) on Global Pasta Market - by Source (whole wheat, rice), Type (spaghetti pasta), form (dried and fresh), Functionality (gluten-free) and Region- Forecast to 2023. Downloaded 05 November 2019. :

https://www.einpresswire.com/article/395408615/pasta-industry-analysis-growth-key-players-and-cagr-of-5-85-foresight-to-2023

NOSZKAY, E. (2017) Tapasztalatok a családi vállalkozások átörökítésének kapcsán. Vezetéstudomány, 2017. 6-7. 67. old.

PASTA MARKET GROWTH REPORT 2019 Market Research Future. Press Release by Size, Share, Global Industry Trends, Regional Analysis, Key Growth Drivers, Forecast Overview by 2023. Published: Oct 11, 2019 2:24 a.m. ET. Downloaded: 20 November 2019. https://www.marketresearchfuture.com/reports/pasta-market-2428

SHEPHERD, R. RAATS, M. (2006) The psychology of food choice. Frontiers in Nutritional Science, No. 3. The Nutrition Society

SHOUKAS, D. (2013) Mintel announces 2013 foodservice trend predictions. In: Food and Drink. January 08th, 2013. Mintel reports store. Specialty Food Magazine. Categories: Trends and Statistics; Industry Stats. 2013/06/24.

SZÉKELYHIDI, K. (2016) Pékáru, tésztafélék gyártása. In.: A magyarországi élelmiszeripar helyzete és jövőképe. Szerk.: Kürthy Gyöngyi, Dudás Gyula, Felkai Beáta. Agrárgazdasági Tanulmányok sorozat. Agrárgazdasági Kutató Intézet, Budapest. 147-172 old.

TARI, K. – LEHOTA, J. – KOMÁROMI, N. (2006) Élelmiszerekkel kapcsolatos kockázatok csökkentésére irányuló magatartásformák vizsgálata. Táplálkozásmarketing. 2016. 3 (2) 63-77

VÖRÖS, M. L. (2013) A helyi termelői piacok marketing igényei és lehetőségei. Esettanulmány, vásárlói elégedettség Fóton. In: Innovation for Business. III. évfolyam. 3. szám. 14-21. p.

#### ILONA FEHÉR

# SCIENTIFIC PUBLICATIONS ON THE TOPIC OF THE DISSERTATION

#### Scientific journal articles

in English

1. Ilona Fehér: The competitiveness of hungarian micro-enterproses int he pasta market

In: Táplálkozásmarketing. Debreceni Egyetem Gazdaságtudományi Karának Marketing és Kereskedelem Intézete. ISSN: 2064-8839. DOI: <a href="https://doi.org/10.20494/TM/6/2/5">https://doi.org/10.20494/TM/6/2/5</a> VI. évfolyam, 2019/2. szám. 51-60. p.

- **2.** Ilona Fehér: Opportunities for Small Enterprises in Our Pasta Culture. In: Agri-business for Rural Development, Environment and Quality of Life. 49 th Georgikon Scientific Conference, Keszhely, 2007. (158-159. old.) **ISBN 978-963-9639-20-1**
- 3. Ilona Fehér: Behavior of consumers in the pasta market. In: Hungarian Agricultural Researc. 2020. (In press.)
  - 4. Ilona Fehér: The success and failure factors of pasta manufacturing micro enterprises

In: Hungarian Africultural Research. 2020. (In Press)

in Hungarian

5. Fehér Ilona: Száraztészta fogyasztási trendek

In: Gazdálkodás. The manuscript sent to the editorial board is awaiting review and publication. (In press)

6. Fehér Ilona: Ajánlások a tésztakészítő mikro vállalkozások lokális sikereihez. (a helyi márka értéke)

In: Falu. It was accepted by the journal and published according to the layout.

7. Fehér Ilona: A falusi vendégasztal megújítása kevésbé ismert kézműves tésztaformákkal In: Falu. It was accepted by the journal and published according to the layout.

#### **Scientific conference presentations**

in English

8. Ilona Fehér, Nilokett Németh: Analisis of the situation and competitiveness of Hungarian pasta indrustry (based of Porter's modell)

In.: 15. Iternational Conference on Management Enterprise, and Benchmarking at Óbuda University. Keleti Faculty of Business and Management. (2017). **ISBN 978-963-449- 027-2** 

9. Ilona Fehér: Hungarian Folk Pasta Culture – The hen's ear pasta, the pasta mushroom, the cat's paw and their companions – Reviving the folk pasta culture. Poster presentation.

In: EuCheMS (European Chemical Society) and Hungarian Chemical Society, EuroFoodChem XIX Conference, (2017) Program and Book of Abstracts, Paper abstract O29; **ISBN: 978-963-9970-79-3** 

10. Ilona Feher: From goulash communism to brand cannibalism – dry pasta market 70 years ago.

In.: Greetings from JESE/60th Georgikon Scientific Conference, 2018. Print ISSN: (ISSN 2162-5298); Online ISSN: (ISSN 2162-5301)

11. Ilona Fehér, Jozsef Lehota: New challenges on dried pasta market – Long term competitiveness analysis

In.: Proceedings of the International Conference Business and Managment Sciences: New Challenes in Theory and Practice Volume. II. 589-596. p. (ISBN 978-963-269-832-8)

#### in Hungarian

12. Fehér Ilona: A magyar kisvállalkozások lehetőségei.

In: Európai Integráció – Elvek és döntések. Gazdasági fejlődés Európában, II. Pannon Gazdaságtudományi Konferencia, Tanulmánykötet, I. Pannon Egyetem, Veszprém. 2007. (199-207 old.) **ISBN 978-963-9696-29-7** 

13. Fehér Ilona: Inkluzív vidékfejlesztés a Szentendrei és a Szobi kistérségben.

In: Erdei Ferenc VI. Tudományos Konferencia. "Válságkezelés a tudomány eszközeivel". Kecskeméti Főiskola. Kertészeti Főiskolai Kar. Kecskemét, 2011. 548-552 old. **ISBN 978-615-5192-01-2** 

14. Fehér Ilona: Párhuzamos útkeresés Európa három kistérségében.

In: Gazdasági és üzleti kihívások a Kárpát-Medencében. (Szerk. Lázár Ede.) Státusz Kiadó, Csíkszereda. 2011. (117-131. old.) **ISBN 978-606-8052-52-6** 

15. Fehér Ilona: A népi tésztakultúránk felélesztése – Tyúkfül tészta és társai

In.: Táplálkozástudományi kutatások. Magyar Táplálkozástudományi Társaság és Budapesti Műszaki és Gazdaságtudományi Egyetem, Élelmiszertudományi Tanszék. 2017. Absztrakt **ISBN 978-615-6506-03-08** 

#### **Book chapters**

16. Fehér Ilona – Németh Nikolett Analisis of the situation and competitiveness of Hungarian pasta indrustry (based of Porter's modell)

In: Takács, István (szerk) Management, Enterprise and benchmarking (MEB) 2017. "Global challenges, local answers" Budapest, Magyarország: Óbuda Egyetem, Keleti Károly Gazdasági Kar. 2017. (55-65., 11. p.) **ISBN 978-963-449-027-2** 

17. Fehér Ilona: Innováció a hagyományos tésztatermékek piacán.

In.: Kutatás, fejlesztés, innováció az agrárium szolgálatában. Doktoranduszok Országos Szövetsége. Mezőgazda Lap-, és Könyvkiadó. 2017. Szerk.: Szabó Péter. (151 – 157. old.) **ISBN 978-963-286-726-7** 

18. Fehér Ilona: Magyar tésztakultúra.

In.: Kárpát-medencei Kisebbségi Magyar Közművelődési Civil szervezetek Fóruma. Magyar Kollégium Kiadó. 13. füzet. 2016. 88-98. old. **ISBN 978-963-12-5884-4** 

#### Other scientific activities

19. Ilona Fehér: Frauenerziehung in der Moldau.

In:Theorie und Praxis. Jahrgang 1, Heft 2. 2009. (55-60. old.) ISSN 2061-425X

20. Fehér Ilona: A női értékrend átadása három generáción át.

In.: Tavaszi Szél - Spring Wind 2016. Tanulmánykötet. IV. kötet. Pszichológia- és neveléstudomány, Sporttudomány, Szociológia- és multidiszciplináris társadalomtudomány, Történelem- és politikatudomány. (27-39. old.) **ISBN 978-615-5586-09-5**